

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

Staff education program: Increasing nursing knowledge of exclusive breastfeeding

Leigh Anne Panek Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons, and the Nursing Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Nursing

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Leigh Panek

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Mary Catherine Garner, Committee Chairperson, Nursing Faculty Dr. Jennie De Gagne, Committee Member, Nursing Faculty Dr. Eileen Fowles, University Reviewer, Nursing Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2021

Abstract

Staff Education Program: Increasing Nursing Knowledge of Exclusive Breastfeeding

by

Leigh Anne Panek

MSNE, Medical University of South Carolina, 2009

Project Submitted Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

February 2022

Abstract

In the initial postpartum period, exclusive breastfeeding (EBF) improves women's and children's health status and outcomes. Gaps in nursing practice that decrease the rate of EBF during hospitalization at this site were identified by the lactation consultant using a standard chart audit during the last two years. The purpose of this Doctor of Nursing Practice education project was to provide a comprehensive education program that included the purpose, philosophy, nursing practice, and evaluation tools for increasing the EBF rates to meet the Joint Commission's standard of improvement for perinatal care core measures. A formal educational program that included didactic and hands on skills labs increased the knowledge and self-efficacy of perinatal nurses regarding best practice for exclusive breastfeeding. Using the analysis, design, development, implementation, and evaluation model, the education program had both didactic instruction and a onehour skills lab experience. Based on post program survey results, 90% of participants reported increased knowledge and self-efficacy with plans to change future practice based on the information gained during the online program and the hands-on skills lab. This educational intervention has the potential to address the gaps in practice identified in the audits. As the percentage of exclusively breastfed infants in the hospital increases, exclusive breastfeeding rates should also increase for the recommended 6 months. The increased EBF should result in the social change of improved maternal and child bonding and improved infant and child health.

Staff Education Program: Increasing Nursing Knowledge of Exclusive Breastfeeding

by

Leigh Anne Panek

MNE, Medical University of South Carolina, 2009

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Nursing Practice

Walden University

February 2022

List of Tablesiii
Section 1: Nature of the Project1
Introduction1
Problem Statement
Purpose Statement
Nature of the Doctoral Project4
Significance7
Summary8
Section 2: Background and Context10
Introduction10
Concepts, Models, and Theories11
ADDIE Model11
Kirkpatrick Model of Evaluation
Concepts14
Relevance to Nursing Practice15
Local Background and Context19
Role of the DNP Student
Summary21
Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence
Introduction23
Sources of Evidence

Table of Contents

Protections	26
Analysis and Synthesis	27
Section 4: Findings and Recommendations	29
Introduction	29
Findings and Implications	31
Results 33	
Unanticipated Events	34
Recommendations	36
Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team	37
Strengths and Limitations of the Project	38
Section 5: Dissemination Plan	39
Analysis of Self	39
Summary	40
References	42
Appendix A: Baby Friendly Survey	49
Appendix B: Baby Friendly Skills Fair Questionnaire	51

List of Tables

Table 1. Knowledge Assessment	
Table 2. Assessment of Self-efficacy	

Section 1: Nature of the Project

Introduction

The World Health Organization (WHO) and the American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) recommend babies breastfeed exclusively for the first six months of life. Public health data indicate that if 90% of infants were breastfed exclusively for six months, the United States would save \$13 billion annually through reduced healthcare costs (Radzyminski & Callistor, 2015). The benefits of exclusive breastfeeding for infants include the reduced incidence of allergies, asthma, infectious diarrhea, and malocclusion (Victoria et al., 2016). The benefits for the mother include the decreased incidence of breast and ovarian cancer, a rapid return to prepregnancy weight, and increased maternal-fetal bonding (CDC 2016a). The WHO Global Breastfeeding Score Card (2017) shows that only 40% of infants are exclusively breastfeeding rate at six months in the United States was 24.9% (CDC, 2017a). In the Southern state that was the focus of this project, it was 24.4% (CDC 2017a).

A review of the literature conducted by Radzyminski and Callister (2015) showed that the key determinants of the maternal decision to breastfeed include maternal knowledge, personal support, and educational interventions provided by healthcare providers at birth. In this project, I addressed the nursing practice gaps noted during routine quality data collection for exclusive breastfeeding practices. My goal was to provide a comprehensive breastfeeding educational program that updated the nurses' knowledge and addressed specific barriers to implementing best practice guidelines. A change in nursing practice can support the goal of EBF during hospitalization and beyond, thus promoting the positive social change of optimal health practices for maternal and infant health.

Problem Statement

The Healthy People 2020 goal of EBF until six months of age is 25.5%. The percentage of infants meeting this recommendation in the United States was 24.9% in 2015 (CDC 2017a). In the Southern state that was the focus of this project, it was 24.4% (CDC 2017a). In July 2019, the Women's Centers from two community hospitals merged to form one large unit. Both of the units had internal audits for exclusive breastfeeding rates over the last two years. The level of comfort with interventions that support exclusive breastfeeding during hospitalization was different for the two hospitals. According to the director of the study site, nursing practices that required change included skin-to-skin contact, rooming-in of mother and infant, and appropriate, medically indicated supplementation.

The chart audit collection began in January 2018. The chart audit consisted of Baby Friendly questions that were specific to the practices that support the breastfeeding mother at delivery and during hospitalization. Practices that enhance the expectation of exclusive breastfeeding within an environment that supports the mother's informed choice of feeding her infant include immediate and sustained skin-to-skin contact at birth and keeping the mother and infant together continuously throughout hospitalization (WHO 2016). Visits by the lactation consultant during hospitalization also increased the percentage of women who exclusively breastfed during their hospitalization (WHO 2016). In a study by Chantry et al. (2014), infants who received breastmilk substitute supplementation during hospitalization had a decreased rate of duration of breastfeeding at six months of life.

Nurses' knowledge and attitudes about breastfeeding predict actual supportive behaviors (Radzyminski and Callister, 2015). Radzyminski and Callister (2015) conducted a qualitative study with 53 healthcare professionals that provided care to breastfeeding women and their infants. The study resulted in four themes: understanding the benefits of breastfeeding, gaps between the knowledge of benefits and actual clinical practice, lack of assessment and therapeutic skills, and understanding how healthcare providers can help patients with barriers to breastfeeding. Breastfeeding support is consistent with the competencies and roles of the perinatal nurse (AWHONN, 2021).

Identified gaps in nursing practice that are not supportive of breastfeeding mothers included delayed skin-to-skin contact (SSC), supplementation without a medical indication, and the separation of the mother and infant for routine screening exams. The Breastfeeding Committee on the units consisted of the unit director, the unit managers, the IBCLC manager, the DNP student, and nurses from the labor and delivery, postpartum, and nursery units. The DNP student designed a staff education program that addressed the knowledge deficits noted during the chart audits. Educational interventions focused on practices that increase the success rate of EBF during hospitalization.

Purpose Statement

During the DNP education project, I created a comprehensive education program that included the purpose, philosophy, nursing practices, and evaluation tools required to increase the exclusive breastfeeding rates during hospitalization. I addressed the practice gaps and barriers identified during the audit process. The guiding practice-focused question was: Will a formal educational program increase the knowledge and self-efficacy of perinatal nurses regarding practices that increase exclusive breastfeeding rates?

This educational intervention had the potential to address the gaps identified in the audits which included delayed skin-to-skin contact, supplementation with breastmilk substitutes without medical indication, the use of artificial nipples, and the separation of mothers and infants for routine screening exams. I addressed the gaps in practice through an educational program that included a pretest, a posttest, a one hour skills lab, and four hours of orientation with the lactation consultant.

Nature of the Doctoral Project

The project was an educational intervention, and I followed the recommendations of Walden's DNP Manual (2017). The educational model I chose to meet The Joint Commission's Perinatal Care Core Measure for exclusive breastfeeding is the analysis, design, development, implementation, and evaluation (ADDIE) model. The ADDIE model has five essential components to develop educational programs (Jeffery et al., 2015). I have discussed these elements under the concepts, models, and processes portion of Section two.

The educational program was assigned to all current staff on the Women's Health Unit. A pretest was administered before the educational program. A posttest was administered when the participants had completed the entire program. The breastfeeding committee analyzed the results of the two tests to evaluate that learning had occurred. Staff members completed the self-efficacy tool at the end of the education session. After the participant completed the education and the skills lab, the staff member spent four hours with the lactation consultant to reinforce the learned concepts.

Educational programs designed to address practice gaps include planned evaluation strategies built into the implementation timeline. Evaluations validate the initial need for interventions, the effectiveness of the interventions, and the expected outcomes for the program (CDC's Healthy Community Programs, n.d.). I used the Kirkpatrick model (2019) for the evaluation of this educational program. I discuss this model in Section two. I used formative evaluation during the adoption of the program and best practice interventions. I evaluated the effectiveness of interventions at regular intervals and used them to adjust the program as recommended in the Centers for Disease Control (CDC)'s Healthy Communities Program (CDC's Healthy Communities Program, n.d.).

EBF during hospitalization increases the rate of infants' EBF through the first six months of life (WHO 2016). Interventions recommended in the WHO guidelines increase the percentage of infants that are ever breastfed in the United States (WHO 2016). The best practice interventions include skin-to-skin contact within five minutes of birth, infant rooming in with the mother, supplementation with breastmilk substitutes only if medically indicated, and consultation with an International Board-Certified Lactation Consultant (IBCLC) (WHO 2016). The Joint Commission (TJC) established Perinatal Care Core Measures for all hospitals undergoing accreditation. EBF rate improvement is one of those core measures. The United States Breastfeeding Committee (2013) provides specific interventions that encourage breastfeeding. These interventions include SSC at birth, breastfeeding within the first hour of life, keeping the mother and infant together, and providing adequate breastfeeding support at discharge. All of these interventions are influenced by the actions of the perinatal nurse. Research on factors that influence EBF and duration demonstrated a two-fold increase in the incidence and duration of EBF after discharge when EBF is achieved during hospitalization (Radzyminski and Callister, 2015).

During the prenatal period, women receive information on the benefits of breastfeeding for themselves and their infants. This education is a part of routine prenatal care visits. Reenforcement of breastfeeding information in the form of pamphlets and web-based resources is an excellent resource for mothers. When women are admitted to the hospital for delivery, the labor and delivery nurse initiates conversations with the patient on the benefits of breastfeeding and the interventions offered to assist with the first breastfeed. These interventions include SSC, breastfeeding on demand, avoiding artificial nipples, and keeping the mother and infant together during the entire hospitalization (United States Breastfeeding Committee 2013).

Bedside perinatal nurses are critical to the process of educating and supporting women with breastfeeding immediately after birth and during their relatively brief postpartum stay (Aurbach 1979). SSC immediately after birth increases the success rate of breastfeeding initiation and accelerates the infant's physiologic status change to extrauterine life (Burgio et al., 2016). SSC, unless medically contraindicated, is a priority in all deliveries.

EBF during hospitalization increased the duration of EBF at discharge, three months, and six months in patients that had cesarean section births (Guala et al., 2017). Research on spontaneous vaginal deliveries, operative vaginal deliveries, and cesarean sections demonstrated SSC to be beneficial to breastfeeding initiation (Lau et al., 2017). McFadden et al. (2017) published a Cochrane review on the effects of breastfeeding support interventions on EBF and any breastfeeding at four weeks, six weeks, and six months. The most effective intervention was education and support in the postpartum period and after discharge. Face-to-face support was more effective than telephone contact. Antenatal education was not as effective as postnatal education in increasing breastfeeding initiation and duration (McFadden et al., 2017). Educational interventions by trained lactation counselors, IBCLCs, providers, and peers all increased the initiation and duration of any and EBF (McFadden et al., 2017).

Significance

Public health data indicate if 90% of infants were breastfed exclusively for six months, the United States would save \$13 billion annually through reduced healthcare costs (Radzyminski and Callistor, 2015). The benefits of EBF include the decreased number and length of stays for infants, decreased long-term health conditions such as obesity, diabetes, and cancer, and the increased disease-free state of individuals over the next 20 to 30 years (American Academy of Pediatricians [AAP], 2015). The decreased healthcare costs for infants and children in the form of reduced morbidity due to the benefits of breastfeeding is a long-term benefit of EBF for six months (AAP 2015).

Nursing's influence on the mother's successful breastfeeding experience can affect the health of future generations, decreasing infant mortality and morbidity and the incidence of chronic diseases such as obesity, hypertension, and diabetes (Victora et al., 2016). Nursing interventions include: education on the benefits of EBF, SSC maintained at least one hour after birth or until after the initial breastfeed, nursing assistance with obtaining latch, and consultation with an IBCLC (Registered Nurses' Association of Ontario 2003).

The benefits to nursing practice include improving the knowledge and competencies of perinatal nurses in breastfeeding support. This nursing practice is consistent with the Surgeon General's call for action in 2011: "there are few opportunities for future physicians and nurses to obtain education and training on breastfeeding and the information in medical and nursing textbooks is often incomplete, inconsistent, and inaccurate" (United States Department of Health and Human Services [USDHHS], 2011, p. XX). Through this project, I supported nursing and physician practice by providing evidence-based education on best practice guidelines.

Summary

The Healthy People 2020 goal of EBF until six months of age is 25.5%. The percentage of infants meeting this recommendation in the United States was 24.9% in 2015. In the Southern state that was the focus of this project, it was 22.8% (Healthy People 2017a). The purpose of this DNP education project was to provide a

comprehensive education program that included the purpose, philosophy, nursing practice, and evaluation tools required to increase the rate of exclusive breastfeeding rates during hospitalization. This program addressed the practice gaps and barriers identified during the audit process. The guiding practice-focused question was: Will a formal educational program increase the knowledge and self-efficacy rating of perinatal nurses? The education program addressed the gaps in knowledge that were identified in the preeducation questionnaire. The post-education questionnaire results demonstrated a 10% increase in the knowledge level of the participants.

Section 2 will include additional information on the background and context for the DNP project. The breastfeeding committee discussed the evaluation model in detail with related objectives and measurements of successful implementation of the education program.

Section 2: Background and Context

Introduction

The benefits of exclusive breastfeeding for infants include the reduced childhood incidence of allergies, asthma, infectious diarrhea, and malocclusion (Victoria et al., 2016). The benefits for the mother include the decreased incidence of breast and ovarian cancer, a rapid return to prepregnancy weight, and increased maternal-child bonding (CDC 2016a). According to The WHO Global Breastfeeding Score Card (2017), only 40% of infants are exclusively breastfed, and only 23 countries have breastfeeding rates of more than 60%. In 2015, EBF at six months in the United States was 24.9% (CDC, 2017a). In the Southern state that was the focus of this project, it was 24.4% (CDC 2017a).

The Joint Commission (TJC) has established Perinatal Care Core Measures for all facilities that treat women and children. One of the core measures includes nursing practices that encourage EBF during hospitalization (TJC, 2018). In this project, I addressed the nursing practice gaps noted during the hospital's data collection for EBF practices. This education project aimed to provide a comprehensive breastfeeding education program to update the nurses' knowledge and address specific barriers to implementing best practice guidelines. A change in nursing practice can support the goal of EBF during hospitalization and beyond, thus promoting the positive social change of optimal health practices for maternal and infant health. The guiding practice-focused question was: Will a formal educational program increase the knowledge and self-efficacy of perinatal nurses regarding best practices for exclusive breastfeeding?

Using the ADDIE model for development, the education program provided the participants with the information needed for the perinatal care core measure of increased EBF. I evaluated the effects of the education with the Kirkpatrick model. The concepts unique to this project were EBF, SSC, and the restriction of nipples or teats during the establishment of breastfeeding. These concepts are discussed in the next section. The relevance to nursing practice reviews the existing scholarship on EBF and the current research. Strategies that have worked in the past were reviewed and implemented. Local background information on the practice issue is discussed in the next section. The final section reviews the role of the DNP student in the process.

Concepts, Models, and Theories

ADDIE Model

I used the ADDIE model (Jeffery, Longo, and Nienaber 2015) to develop my staff education project. This instructional design model has been used in the military, industry, and healthcare environments since 1975. The elements of this model include Analysis, Design, Development, Implementation, and Evaluation. The analysis consisted of a detailed examination of the practice issue. Research involved auditing patient records, surveys, interviews of stakeholders, and literature reviews (Lee et al., 2017). The design portion of the model included reviewing the information contained within the analysis and using it to form objectives for the program. Development used the objectives to develop an educational program to address practice issues identified during analysis. During the implementation stage, the Certified Nurse Specialist (CNS) provided the educational program to the intended recipients. The committee used formative evaluation to adjust the program during each stage of the process.

Yee Fun Chow (2018) reports the need for identification of the intended audience during the first stage of the ADDIE model, analysis. During analysis, I used current breastfeeding rates, chart documentation reviews, and communication with the unit IBCLC to identify processes and knowledge deficits that indicated the need for further education. The design portion of the model included specific objectives that the committee addressed during program development. During design, the committee used the information learned from the analysis to form objectives and goals for participants. The committee reviewed current literature for best practice guidelines. The model's development portion identified best practice guidelines from the existing literature. The CNS implemented the program within the learning management system used by the staff members in the women's health unit of the facility. This program was assigned to all team members. After completion of the program, the team members worked with one of the LCs for 4 hours. Evaluation of the program included the pre-test and post-test results, the self-efficacy questionnaire, and planned chart audits within the six months after the project was complete. This project evaluated the level of increased knowledge associated with the program by using a pre-test and a post-test. Self-efficacy was evaluated using a standard Likert scale. Evaluating behavior changes and changes in the rate of exclusive breastfeeding were beyond the scope of the project.

Kirkpatrick Model of Evaluation

The Kirkpatrick model of evaluation has four levels. The levels are reaction, learning, behavior, and results (Kirkpatrick & Kirkpatrick, 2019). The first level of assessment, reaction, concentrates on the perception of the targeted audience. How do learners perceive the learning activity? This level is a measure of how much the learners liked or disliked a program or learning activity. Scales include learner satisfaction levels, open-ended questions, and the Likert Scale. I used a Likert-style scale to evaluate the learner's satisfaction with the program presented (Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick 2019).

The next level of evaluation is the learning level. Evaluation measures changes in knowledge, skills, behaviors, and attitudes associated with the learning activity. Learning may be evaluated through quizzes, case studies, or simulation (Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick 2019). I used a pretest and post-test to measure the level of learning that occurred from the computer-assisted instruction program.

The third level of evaluation is behavior. The behavior level evaluates the effect of the educational program on an individual's behavior. This level of assessment required direct observation of the learner (Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick 2019). The evaluation of behavior was beyond the scope of this project to evaluate the behavior of the individuals. Before the education program, I administered an anonymous questionnaire to all staff members. Staff members were assigned a random code for each survey. After the 4-hour orientation with the IBCLC, the committee asked the staff to complete the questionnaire again. The questions were specific to the participant's feelings of self-efficacy and how the program affected their practice. The unit will use this information for future educational program design.

The final level of evaluation is the results level. The results evaluation is the final product. Results measure the program's level of success using patient outcomes (Kirkpatrick and Kirkpatrick 2019). This level of assessment is beyond the scope of this project to evaluate the patient outcomes.

Concepts

Several concepts were significant to this project. The first concept is EBF, which is recommended for the first six months of life. Infants that are exclusively breastfed receive no food or nourishment other than breastmilk. When breastfeeding is delayed due to mother or infant factors, supplementation should be with breastmilk (WHO 2016). If breastmilk substitutes are used, supplementation for medical indications should use an appropriate amount to prevent the stretching of the infant's stomach. Breastmilk supplementation should occur using methods that do not include high-flow nipples and bottles. Some of the options include cup feeding, finger feeding with an orogastric tube, spoon-feeding, and the use of low-flow nipples with a bottle (WHO 2016). This recommendation results in numerous health benefits for the mother and the infant and decreases the disruption of the establishment of an adequate milk supply (WHO 2016).

The second concept is skin-to-skin (SSC). SSC is contact between the infant and a caregiver without barriers such as clothes or blankets. A diaper is acceptable and does not interfere with the bonding process. Infants should not wear hats. The nurse should

place a warm blanket over the infant and mother during this time. If the mother cannot provide SSC, the father or another individual may be substituted (WHO 2016).

The third concept, restriction of artificial nipples or teats, implies no bottles or pacifiers used during the establishment of breastfeeding, which takes about two weeks. Medically indicated supplementation must use a bottle with a low-flow nipple, a cup, a spoon, an orogastric feeding tube, or a syringe (WHO 2016). Medical indications for the use of artificial nipples include hypoglycemia, painful procedures such as circumcision, infant weight loss, hyperbilirubinemia, or prolonged separation of the mother and infant (WHO 2016).

Relevance to Nursing Practice

The Journal of Obstetrical and Gynecological Nursing (JOGN) published a position statement by the Association of Women's Health, Obstetrical, and Neonatal Nurses (AWHONN) on the nurse's role in the care of breastfeeding mothers. The nurse's role includes preparing, educating, encouraging, and supporting breastfeeding women (AWHONN 2016). Perinatal nurses have the knowledge and expertise necessary to guide mothers and infants in the essential task of initiating breastfeeding (AWHONN 2016).

Nurses who take care of women in labor must have the education and background necessary to support them as they establish the healthy behavior of breastfeeding (AWHONN 2016). When nurses discuss the benefits of breastfeeding with them, women are more receptive to initiate and continue breastfeeding (AWHONN 2016). Prenatal visits are opportunities to introduce breastfeeding concepts to women (WHO 2016). The labor and delivery nurse should review information with the patient and ask the patient about feeding preferences (AWHONN 2016).

In 2013, the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) reported the U.S. infant mortality rate was 5.96/1000 live births (2014). The infant mortality rates in the state where the project was completed were 6.87/1000 live births (2014). It is necessary to examine the risk factors for infant mortality to understand the differences. Risk factors include race, age, mode of delivery, parity, body mass index (BMI), and tobacco use (Brown et al., 2014). Social factors include paternal attitudes, maternal education level, maternal support system, and maternal intention. Behavioral factors that interfere with EBF include pacifier use, breastmilk substitute supplementation, and artificial nipples (Brown et al., 2014).

Non-Hispanic Black women had an infant mortality rate of 11.01/1000 live births in 2013 (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). This rate is more than twice that of non-Hispanic Whites (5.06/1000) and Hispanics (5.0/1000). The current population of non-Hispanic Blacks in the United States is 13.3%; it is 27.5% in the state where the project was completed (U.S. Census Bureau, 2017). Interventions to increase EBF should be culturally sensitive to this population.

The U.S. Census Bureau (2017) reported age as a significant deterrent for EBF. Women between 20 and 29 years of age are less likely to breastfeed than women over 30. Interventions targeted at this age group would include education specific to the short-term and long-term benefits of breastfeeding. This age group may be receptive to information on the socioeconomic benefits of breastfeeding due to developmental tasks relevant to them. This population is receptive to education programs presented through technology such as phone applications and social media.

Low socioeconomic status is another risk factor. While the 2016 U.S. population poverty level was 12.7% this state's poverty rate was 15.3% of the population living at or below the federal poverty level. Education status level is another indicator, with higher education levels associated with higher EBF rates. The percentage of college graduates among residents in this state was 26.5%, while the national rate was 30.3% (CDC 2016).

Breastfeeding has benefits for mothers and infants. As recommended by the WHO (2016), providers are the first contact with the mother. Providers should introduce the benefits of breastfeeding during prenatal visits. Pamphlets and web-based resources will reinforce this information at each visit beginning in the second trimester. Early introduction of information can encourage the mother to make an informed decision to initiate a healthy behavior (Gurka et al., 2014). When education is delayed, there may not be enough time to change the behavior or thought processes (Gurka et al., 2014). In a study by Piro and Ahmed (2020), women who were provided two hours of antenatal education on the benefits of breastfeeding during prenatal visits were more likely to report a higher self-efficacy score. The authors also noted higher scores on a basic knowledge test after the education sessions (Piro and Ahmed 2020).

Postnatal community support includes breastfeeding support groups, home nurse visits, and pediatrician education on the benefits of continued breastfeeding (Perez-Escamilla et al, 2016). These interventions increase the duration of any and exclusive

breastfeeding after discharge to home with face-to-face contact for education resulting in an increased impact on duration compared with phone calls (McFadden et al., 2017).

Factors that result in early cessation of breastfeeding include income at or below the poverty level, the early use of pacifiers, and a lack of social support (WHO 2018). Vaginal deliveries and planned pregnancies have the highest incidence of early breastfeeding initiation, but antenatal breastfeeding education was the best predictor of duration (Yilmaz et al., 2017). Antenatal education on breastfeeding by providers, including the future health benefits of breastfeeding to mothers and infants, increased breastfeeding initiation and duration (Burgio et al., 2016).

The labor and delivery nurse will ensure SSC is initiated at birth or when the mother and newborn are stable. SSC maintained for at least the first hour of life or until the initial breastfeeding is completed is recommended (WHO 2016). During the initial SSC, safety measures are taken to maintain infant safety due to the risk of sudden changes in the infant's status. Healthcare workers trained in the care of the newborn must monitor the infant during SSC (AWHONN 2016).

The postpartum nurse continues to support the mother and infant dyad to establish breastfeeding. When used to encourage continued breastfeeding during the hospital stay and beyond, SSC effectively establishes breastfeeding (AWHONN 2016). The postpartum nurse re-enforces the information provided to the mother on the benefits of breastfeeding, establishing breastfeeding routines, and medically indicated supplementation methods (AWHONN 2016).

Local Background and Context

The local background and context section reviews the results of the audits performed over the past two years in this community hospital. Through audits performed by the Lactation consultant, practices that do not support breastfeeding were identified that were specific to this unit. These practices included delayed SSC, the infant transfer to newborn or level two nursery for transition, the separation of the mother and infant for routine screenings and testing, supplementation with breastmilk substitutes that are not medically indicated, and the delay of lactation support for new mothers or those experiencing difficulties while in the hospital. Implementation of the proposed education program provided perinatal nurses with knowledge of evidence-based practices for breastfeeding to fill this gap in practice.

EBF has multiple benefits for mothers and infants. This patient population has many characteristics that decrease the rate of EBF until the recommended six months of age. The factors include African American race, low socio-economic status, lower level of attained education, and marital status. The patient population in this community hospital had an elevated risk for early discontinuation of EBF. Health complications that could be decreased by following EBF guidelines include diabetes, obesity, allergies, asthma, and cancer (CDC 2016a).

SSC is beneficial to mothers and infants. During SSC, the mother's body temperature adjusts to warm the infant. The infant is calmed from listening to the mother's heartbeat, normalizing heart rate and respiration (AWHONN 2016). The mother's benefits from SSC include increased maternal/infant bonding, exclusive and extended breastfeeding, increased confidence in the ability to breastfeed, and reduced symptoms of depression in the postpartum period (AWHONN 2016).

The breastfeeding task force was formed to address the low levels of EBF noted by the LC during the chart audits. Behaviors that decreased the rate of EBF during hospitalization were feedings with breastmilk substitutes using bottles and artificial nipples, delayed SSC, and separation during hospitalization. During the breastfeeding task force meetings, members were asked to brainstorm ideas for interventions to increase the current EBF rate from 25%. A review of the chart audit results highlighted the need for a staff education program to address the gaps in practice.

Role of the DNP Student

I participated as an active member of the breastfeeding task force on the unit. The task force was formed to address the low levels of EBF noted by the LC during the chart audits. During the chart audits, the LC noted several behaviors that decreased the rate of EBF during hospitalization. The first was supplementation of feedings with breastmilk substitutes using bottles and artificial nipples. Delayed SSC between the mother and infant and separation during hospitalization were also significant risk factors for discontinuing or interrupting EBF.

As a member of the project team, I assisted with the design, development, implementation, and evaluation of the educational module required by the staff. I reviewed clinical practice guidelines on breastfeeding and the care of the perinatal patient. I worked with the clinical education staff and the Lactation Consultant (LC) to include evidence-based practice information on EBF benefits and behaviors that increase the exclusivity and duration of EBF during hospitalization.

The evaluation portion of the education included a pre-education and posteducation knowledge survey. The L.C. and the staff member evaluated the four-hour session with the Lactation Consultant. After completing orientation with the lactation consultant, the staff member completed a self-evaluation that reflected their reported selfefficacy.

I was responsible for compiling the testing results and self-evaluation of the staff members. The results were presented to the breastfeeding task force at the end of the evaluation period. The task force reviewed the education module and made changes that included a one-hour skills lab to address the deficits that were noted. I have been working in perinatal nursing for many years, and my passion for breastfeeding may be considered a bias. The incorporation of other team members was essential to moderate my views.

Summary

EBF is recommended for the first six months of life. Perinatal nurses are essential resources for women during their peripartum experience. Preparing, assisting, educating, and supporting women as they establish breastfeeding are tasks within the scope of practice for nurses in this setting. The basic nursing education program does not offer a comprehensive course on breastfeeding. My project covered breastfeeding basics and allowed perinatal nurses to practice their skills while supporting women initiating breastfeeding during the immediate postpartum period. Staff education was the first step toward the goal of increasing the rates of EBF during hospitalization.

The following section includes the design, development, and implementation of the staff education program. The program objectives and goals, and evaluation methods were discussed using the Kirkpatrick model. Although it is not within this project's scope, I have shared the ongoing evaluation tools used to track the rate of EBF during hospitalization, SSC rates, supplementation with breastmilk substitutes, and the rate of rooming-in before and after implementation of the staff education program. Section 3: Collection and Analysis of Evidence

Introduction

WHO and UNICEF recommend EBF until six months of age. Exclusive breastfeeding in the initial postpartum period increases the health status and outcomes of women and children. The Joint Commission (TJC) Perinatal Care Core Measures reenforce the benefits of exclusive breastfeeding during hospitalization (TJC 2017). The gaps in nursing practice that decrease the rate of EBF during hospitalization were identified by the lactation consultant using a standard chart audit during the last two years.

The purpose of this DNP education project was to provide a comprehensive education program that included the purpose, philosophy, nursing practice, and evaluation tools needed to increase the EBF rates to meet the Joint Commission's standard of improvement for perinatal care core measures. This program addressed the practice gaps and barriers identified during the audit evaluation process. The guiding practice-focused question was: "Will a formal educational program increase the knowledge and self-efficacy of perinatal nurses regarding best practice for exclusive breastfeeding?"

This educational intervention has the potential to address the gaps in practice identified in the audits. As the percentage of exclusively breastfed infants in the hospital increases, exclusive breastfeeding (EBF) rates for the recommended six months should also increase. The increased EBF should result in the social change of decreased infant mortality and morbidity rates (CDC 2016a).

Sources of Evidence

Analysis of practice data began when the lactation consultant on the unit performed chart audits to determine the barriers to EBF. Research revealed that mothers who chose exclusive breastfeeding as a feeding plan could not do this during their hospitalization due to four identified nursing practices. Nursing practices that negatively impacted the EBF outcome included: interruption of SSC at birth, the separation of mother and infant during hospitalization, supplementation with breastmilk substitutes using artificial nipples or bottles without medical indication, and the lack of early, consistent visits from a lactation consultant or International Board-Certified Lactation Consultant (IBCLC). Factors that increased the success rate of EBF included immediate and sustained skin-to-skin contact at birth, breastfeeding within the first hour of life, patient education on practices that increased breastfeeding success, and early IBCLC visitation.

Before participation in the educational program, nurses were informed of the objectives and goals of the program. This program was a mandatory education module on the women and children's services unit. All staff members were required to participate in the education as part of the hospital's quality improvement process. The program was composed of a computer-assisted instruction module with a knowledge check before and after completion. Management also required staff to spend four hours with the lactation consultant to reinforce the learned concepts. The program will become part of the standard orientation for the women's unit staff members.

The education portion of the program was developed in conjunction with the

lactation consultant and perinatal nurse educator using the IBCLC education program. Emphasis was placed on the gaps in practice that became evident through the chart audits. Implementation began as soon as the program development was completed. Staff members were assigned to the program via the learning management system at the hospital. Each staff member was assigned a number for matching purposes so that individual names would not be collected. The program included a pretest and a posttest to evaluate that learning had occurred. The lactation consultant contacted staff members to complete the learning module and schedule four hours with one of the three lactation consultants. Evaluation of the program will be ongoing, with chart audits continuing throughout 2021, but the results are outside this project's scope.

The program included a formative evaluation of the program and adjustments to the educational program plan as required. The Kirkpatrick model of evaluation was used to determine the effectiveness of the interventions. The Kirkpatrick model includes four levels of assessment: Reaction, Learning, Behavior, and Results (Jeffery, et al, 2016). Level 1 is reaction, which measures the learner's satisfaction with the educational activity (Jeffery et al., 2016). Participants completed the hospital's standard continuing education evaluation form immediately after completing the program. This evaluation form used the Likert Scale to determine the learner's level of satisfaction with the presented program.

Level 2 is learning, which measures the modification of knowledge and skills after completing the learning activity (Jeffery et al., 2016). This level of evaluation was obtained via pretests and posttests. This evaluation verified that the learner received the information which resulted in a change in knowledge, skill, or behavior (Jeffery et al, 2016).

Level 3 is behavior. Level 3 evaluates the program's effect on individual behavior. The staff spent four hours with the LC after successful completion of the instructional portion of the program. Self-efficacy was measured by administration of a self-assessment tool developed by the me and approved by the breastfeeding task force committee. The Likert scale tool evaluated the staff member's commitment to changes in practice.

Level 4 is results, Level 4 measures the program's effect on patient outcomes (Jeffery et al. 2016). While this was outside the scope of this study, chart audits continued after the education was completed to assess nursing practice behaviors. Patient satisfaction scores are another measure of the results of the program. An outside source measures patient satisfaction scores.

Protections

This project did not involve patient care. The hospital required participants to complete the education, as part of the quality improvement process. The committee informed staff of the purpose of the education and how their identities will be protected through the use of a standard informed consent supplied by the internal review board. All participants used a unique identifier of their choosing to compare the pretest/posttest knowledge gain. The self-efficacy scale was anonymous. This proposal was sent to the Walden IRB for approval. Approval was granted at the study site by the internal nursing research council (IRB protocol number 09-14-20-0629852).

Analysis and Synthesis

I performed a literature search using the MESH terms: *breastfeeding*, *breastfeeding support*, *breastfeeding education*, *staff education*, *self-efficacy tools*, *nurse education*, *nurse training*, and *professional education*. This yielded 9,529 articles. The modified search produced scholarly articles within the past eight years, narrowing the results to 952 articles.

An extensive review of the literature yielded sufficient evidence of the need for an educational program to increase the knowledge base of perinatal nurses responsible for supporting mothers and infants as they learn to breastfeed. In a study by Folker-Maglaya et al. (2018), perinatal nurses reported feeling unprepared to support breastfeeding mothers during their short hospital stay. Nursing education programs during undergraduate courses only provided the basic anatomy and physiology of breastfeeding without emphasizing the methods of support required for new mothers.

Burgio et al. (2016) reported the need for increased emphasis on the benefits of breastfeeding and the support of breastfeeding women during medical training for providers. Their survey found that women who received support and education from their providers were more likely to breastfeed exclusively for the recommended six months. Providers reported feeling unprepared to assist women with breastfeeding support based on their educational experiences.

AWHONN position statement on breastfeeding (2014) emphasizes the importance of support for the breastfeeding dyad by perinatal nurses with specific training to their role. The perinatal nurse should have the knowledge and skills required to support women during antenatal, perinatal, and postnatal periods with education and assistance about initiating breastfeeding and the benefits of exclusive breastfeeding for the first six months of life (AWHONN 2014). Perinatal nurses should be knowledgeable about the interventions that increase the initiation and duration of breastfeeding. These interventions include skin-to-skin contact, rooming-in, no supplementation with formula, and the availability of support after discharge through family members and community support groups.

This proposal was an educational program outlining evidence-based practice for the care of breastfeeding mothers and infants. The program introduced the basics of nursing care of the breastfeeding dyad during the perinatal period. Evidence-based practice interventions included immediate and sustained skin-to-skin contact, rooming-in, no supplementation of formula without a medical indication, and early access to an IBCLC or lactation counselor. The program's objectives included an increased understanding of maternal and infant breastfeeding benefits, evidence-based practices that improve the initiation and duration of exclusive breastfeeding during hospitalization and beyond, and the support role of the perinatal nurse. Section 4: Findings and Recommendations

Introduction

WHO and AAP recommend babies breastfeed exclusively for the first six months of life. Public health data indicate that if 90% of infants were breastfed exclusively for six months, the United States would save \$13 billion annually through reduced healthcare costs (Radzyminski and Callistor, 2015). The benefits of exclusive breastfeeding for infants include the reduced incidence of allergies, asthma, infectious diarrhea, and malocclusion (Victoria et al., 2016). The benefits for the mother include the decreased incidence of breast and ovarian cancer, a rapid return to prepregnancy weight, and increased maternal-infant bonding (CDC 2016A). The Baby-Friendly Hospital Initiative was designed to increase the current rate of infants that were ever breastfed to the Healthy People 2020 goal of 81.9 %.

A review of the literature conducted by Radzyminski and Callister (2015) showed that the key determinants of the maternal decision to breastfeed include maternal knowledge, personal support, and educational interventions provided by healthcare providers at birth. Nursing practice gaps were identified with a Baby Friendly questionnaire that assessed the nurses' current knowledge of Baby-Friendly criteria and standards that support exclusive breastfeeding.

The purpose of this education project was to evaluate the current knowledge of staff members and then target training activities that highlighted areas of knowledge deficits across the women's health unit. After reviewing the survey results, the committee developed a comprehensive breastfeeding educational program to update the nurses' knowledge and address specific barriers to implementing Baby-Friendly Certification guidelines. A simulation lab followed the online education program. The skills lab included skills designed to support mothers during hospitalization as they begin to breastfeed. The nurses completed the Baby Friendly knowledge survey (Appendix A) after the education program was completed. Using the data collected before and after the educational program, the results were compared.

The staff members completed an evaluation using a Likert scale form. The Likert scale evaluated the staff member's level of self-efficacy, any planned changes to their current practice, and their current level of knowledge about breastfeeding guidelines (Appendix B).

In the findings and implications section, a review of the process is outlined, including the initial survey and the post-education program survey. The education program objectives are reviewed with the results of the post-education surveys. Carolina Global Breastfeeding Initiative (CGBI) designed the empower program to assist institutions with the baby-friendly initiative certification process. The empower program provided the evaluation tools for specific competencies that were required for the education program. After the education program, the staff completed a second survey to verify that learning had occurred.

The initial survey results were used to design the education program and included specific knowledge deficits identified through the survey. The project team used the empower program to create the education intervention posted to the learning management system. This program was adapted from the CGBI's Empower Program for Breastfeeding (CGBI, 2017). The training included information critical to the site's plan for Baby Friendly Recertification for 2021.

The strengths of this project included using a standard Baby Friendly survey sample to evaluate the current level of knowledge within the nursing staff. The survey included the questions asked by the baby friendly team during the recertification survey. The women's unit was required to participate in the education program due to the hospital requirements for baby friendly recertification. The majority of the nurses on this unit had participated in baby friendly surveys in the past.

The limitations of the project included the small number of completed surveys returned, the departure of the CNS on the unit, and the use of a study that included multiple choice answers, making the compilation of results difficult. After the education and skills lab were completed, only 10 of 35 surveys were returned. I had to change the project site from the original one due to changes wrought by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Findings and Implications

The education program was designed after evaluating the deficits noted from the pre-test questionnaire. The skills lab stations addressed the specific knowledge deficits identified. The project team decided to use the empower program to develop the education intervention that would address the knowledge deficits noted from the initial survey results. This program was adapted from the Carolina Global Breastfeeding Institute's Empower Program for Breastfeeding (CGBI 2017). The site's plan for Baby Friendly recertification included the training provided through this education program.

The survey was a standard form used by Baby Friendly USA to screen care providers for the accepted practices used in baby friendly institutions (Appendix A). Eighty staff members were asked to complete the initial survey. The committee received 17 out of 80 surveys. Knowledge deficits included: education of patients for feeding choice, exclusive breastfeeding, benefits of breastfeeding for women and infants, artificial nipple use, and the requirement for breastmilk substitute preparation education for all patients (Table 1).

The breastfeeding committee assigned an education module on breastfeeding and the Baby Friendly initiative to all staff members. After completion, the staff members participated in a skills lab that focused on the six skills noted as deficient in the preeducation survey. The unit IBCLCs, the nurse educator, and I staffed the stations at the skills lab. The stations included hand expression of breastmilk, breast pump set up and use, alternative feeding methods for medically indicated supplementation, breastmilk substitute preparation and storage, safety issues related to infant feeding and sleep, and documentation of care expectations. Each station included storyboards, demonstrations, and hands-on practice for the staff. Staff members signed up for the lab in 1-hour increments. The committee sent the original questionnaire (Appendix A) and selfefficacy survey (Appendix B) to all skills lab participants after completing all six stations. Only 11 of the 17 original participants completed the post-education questionnaire and self-efficacy survey.

Results

Forty-five participants were assigned to complete the education program through the facility's learning management system (LMS) which consisted of a power point presentation designed to address the specific knowledge deficits found during the preeducation survey. Thirty-five participants completed the education and attended the onehour skills lab. Eleven participants completed the post-education survey and self-efficacy form. Improvements in knowledge scores were noted in all areas of the questionnaire compared with the pre-education questionnaire results. The benefits of breastfeeding, the importance of immediate and sustained skin-to-skin contact for healthy mothers and infants, the need to teach mothers hand expression, and the safe preparation and storage of breastmilk substitutes indicators all demonstrated 100% accuracy on post-testing (Table 1). Self-efficacy ratings were 100% *strongly agree* or *agree* on the postsurvey (Table 2).

Table 1

Indicators	#Participants	Breastfeeding Benefits	Breastmilk hand expression	Preparation of breastmilk supplements	Supplementation methods
Pre- Education Survey	17	12	10	9	9
Post education survey	11	11	11	11	11

Knowledge Assessment

Table 2

Indicators	# Participants	Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
Pre-education Self-Efficacy Screening for level of comfort with breastfeeding support	17	9	3	3	2
Post- education Self-efficacy screening for level of comfort with breastfeeding support	11	10	1	0	0

Assessment of Self-efficacy

Unanticipated Events

During the timeframe of my project, I have experienced many interruptions and setbacks. My initial project was designed to assist an institution with navigating the Baby Friendly Certification process. After multiple delays, the coordinator for the Baby Friendly process resigned from her position. The committee assigned to this project had to reconvene and adjust the timeline for obtaining Baby Friendly Certification. One of the two units was closed, and the committee decided to delay the certification process by 18 months. After 18 months, the committee began to meet again. The institution ultimately chose not to pursue Baby Friendly certification at this time. My project then changed to monitoring exclusive breastfeeding rates and the effects of staff education on these rates. This change was in response to the Joint Commission Perinatal Care Core Measure that requires continuous improvement and monitoring of breastfeeding rates. After six months, I left this site, right before the COVID-19 pandemic began. I could not continue my work on the project at this institution due to changes in leadership and goals on the unit.

I obtained a preceptor at a different institution that was willing to work with me on this project. This Baby-Friendly institution was due for recertification this year. After receiving the Internal Review Board approval of the updates, I worked with the unit educator to evaluate the current level of knowledge of the unit staff.

This small study supports the need for additional education on breastfeeding for perinatal nurses and providers. Patient education needs to start early in the prenatal environment. Studies on feeding choice validate the recommendation that education should reinforce breastfeeding recommendations during every prenatal visit. The hospital care of peripartum patients should include breastfeeding benefits, skin-to-skin contact benefits, breastfeeding positions, and methods used to maintain the breast milk supply when mothers and infants are separated.

Institutions should have a breastfeeding education program incorporated into the orientation plan for peripartum nurses. Evidence-based practice for successful exclusive breastfeeding for the recommended six months supports the use of perinatal and peripartum education for patients and perinatal nurses. The lack of education on

breastfeeding from their healthcare provider was the highest risk for not initiating breastfeeding at birth (Gurka et al., 2014).

Breastfeeding is considered a public health issue for many reasons (Brown, 2017). Societal support of breastfeeding has enabled the creation of multiple breastfeeding support aspects within communities. Breastfeeding education should emphasize the health benefits for infants and moms due to the potential savings in healthcare expenses. A review of the impact of societal involvement that increases the number of exclusively breastfed babies includes investment in healthcare services for women who choose to breastfeed but have difficulty. Social awareness can promote the health benefits of breastfeeding and support women's right to select breastfeeding through changes to local, state, and national laws. Supporting the rights of mothers to choose the method of feeding for their infant and the control of marketing ploys by the breastmilk substitute industry are examples of community support (Brown A, 2017).

Recommendations

My recommendations include using multiple education modalities to ensure that perinatal care providers have the information needed to care for their patients. Using various modalities increases the retention of information. Providers should be required to participate in annual education program hours. Medical schools should initiate provider education on the care of the breastfeeding dyad during the instruction provided on women and infants' health. Schools of nursing should tailor nursing education to meet the needs of this patient population using the latest evidence-based practices. Hospitals and communities must provide resources to assist mothers separated from their breastfed infants due to medical necessity. Hospital-grade electric breast pumps made available to mothers in the hospital and at discharge can ensure the maintenance of an adequate milk supply. A home visit or follow up with an IBCLC could be beneficial to ensure the mother and infant are adapting to the breastfeeding routine.

Contribution of the Doctoral Project Team

The doctoral project team consisted of the me, the unit's CNS, the three IBCLC members, the director of nursing, and the unit manager. This team met monthly during the initial project planning, then weekly after the results had been reviewed. The team was responsible for designing and implementing the education program. After implementation, the group met to evaluate the results and disseminate them within the organization.

The initial survey results were used to design an education module assigned in the facility's LMS for all staff on the Women's, Infants, and Children's units. After completion, the team members were required to attend a skills lab with hands-on experiences that addressed the deficits noted during the survey. After completing the skills lab, the participants completed the Baby Friendly survey a second time. This survey was collected and reviewed by the breastfeeding committee. The second survey results demonstrated an increased understanding of the benefits of breastfeeding for women and children, the technique used for breastmilk hand-expression, alternative feeding methods, and required patient education on the preparation and storage of breastmilk substitutes (Table 1).

Strengths and Limitations of the Project

The strengths of this project included using a standardized Baby Friendly survey questionnaire, the participation requirement within the unit, and the experience level of the project team. Limitations included the small number of initial surveys returned, staffing shortages within the Women's Health Unit, and the prolonged interval between the education program and the follow-up questionnaire.

The initial survey was used to evaluate the knowledge deficits that were specific to this unit. The group then addressed the deficiencies through an online educational presentation and a one-hour skills lab. Due to the plan for Baby-Friendly recertification this year, the staff members are required to have 10 hours of breastfeeding education. This program provided two hours of that education. One of the limitations of this project was the poor participation of the perinatal nurses. The committee solicited eighty initial surveys. Only 17 were completed and returned. The skills lab had 35 participants, but only 11 surveys were completed and returned. Another limitation was the planned resignation of the unit educator. She transferred to another unit two weeks after the last skills lab was completed. The skills lab had participants from the postpartum unit, labor and delivery, and the nursery. The participants were not separated into groups based on their specialties. The presence of multiple viewpoints made some information more difficult to teach due to the different requirements for mothers and infants on each unit.

Section 5: Dissemination Plan

In Section 5, I will describe my plans for disseminating the education program within the study entity. Plans for dissemination include annual competency evaluations of Baby Friendly guidelines, audits of documentation requirements, and use of the program for the orientation of new employees. I plan to submit a poster to my state's AWHONN organization. Other units interested in expanding their knowledge of breastfeeding can use the information to increase the understanding of perinatal nurses. Institutions can also use the data to encourage nursing programs to include this information in their curriculum.

Analysis of Self

During my journey, I have experienced multiple setbacks. My original project included the evaluation of my institution's journey to becoming Baby-Friendly certified. My thoughts on this project were disorganized, and I had difficulty establishing the specific criteria that I wanted to evaluate. When the institution decided not to pursue the certification, I had to reevaluate the direction of the focus of my project. The change in my project changed my focus on the need for education on the importance of breastfeeding. During my research, I became more focused on the deficit of breastfeeding education provided during the standard nursing and medical education programs.

The information I found on the benefits of breastfeeding, the process of establishing breastfeeding, and mothers' education about breastfeeding inspired me to focus my education project on this topic. Nurses on women's health units obtain much of their information on these subjects from the preceptors on their units. Many nurses bring their own experiences with breastfeeding into their practice. The program I designed includes specific details on breastfeeding practices that lead to patient success.

Personal biases can affect all aspects of professional decisions. My personal experiences with breastfeeding included difficulty with latch and supply with my first child, which resulted in early supplementation and discontinuation of breastfeeding at two months. My second child was in the Level 3 neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) for 17 days. Although the nurses encouraged breastfeeding, the process of supplying breastmilk to them was complex without the continuous support required to establish and continue my milk supply. I never breastfeed my third child due to the previous negative experiences with the first two children.

My breastfeeding difficulties led me to seek interventions that would increase the knowledge and comfort of my patients while establishing exclusive breastfeeding. The knowledge gained from reviewing evidence-based practices on exclusive breastfeeding has culminated in the educational program for this project. The knowledge has benefited my patients during the initial postpartum period as I have established procedures that encourage early and exclusive breastfeeding.

Summary

The AACN (2006) guides advanced nursing practices. The first essential is the use of scientific underpinnings for practice. During my project, I reviewed the research available on the benefits of exclusive breastfeeding and its effects on the health of women and infants. The breastfeeding committee created an educational program for the perinatal nurses on the unit. Using evidence-based interventions, I designed an

educational program for the nurses on the women's health unit that addressed the team's specific needs based on the initial survey of knowledge deficits. The educational program was assigned to the unit staff members on the hospital's learning management system. The educational program was completed and followed by a skills lab that addressed the specific knowledge deficits noted during the analysis of the pre-test questionnaire. After the education, the skills lab portion was assigned for the participants to put their new knowledge into practice.

The analysis of the post-education questionnaires was completed. All previously noted knowledge deficits had improved scores. The survey results (Table one) included five of the educational objectives. Participants correctly answered the questions on the benefits of breastfeeding, skin-to-skin contact, alternative feeding methods for supplementation, and the preparation and storage of breastmilk substitutes.

Formal nursing education provides only the basic information required to care for women during the peripartum period. Most nursing programs do not include breastfeeding information is not in the curriculum. Information obtained during clinical experiences does not meet the basic requirements for breastfeeding support. I would propose that nursing and medical curriculum include breastfeeding support information due to the benefits of breastfeeding to the health of future generations,

References

American Association of Colleges of Nursing (AACN). (2006). The essentials of doctoral education for advanced nursing practice. <u>https://www.aacnnursing.org/DNP/DNP-</u>Essentials

American Academy of Pediatricians (2015). Benefits of breastfeeding.

www.healthychildren.org

Association of Women's Health, Obstetrical, and Neonatal Nursing (2016). Immediate and sustained skin-to-skin contact for the healthy term newborn after birth: AWHONN practice brief number 5.<u>https://www.jognn.org/article/S0884-</u>

2175(16)30352-5/fulltext

Association of Women's Health, Obstetrical and Neonatal Nursing (2021). Breastfeeding and the use of human milk. AWHONN position statement.

https://www.jognn.org/article/S0884-2175(21)00116-

7/pdf?utm_source=AWHONN&utm_medium=page-

clicks&utm_campaign=position-statement-clicks&utm_id=+

Aurbach, K. G. (1979). The role of the nurse in support of breastfeeding. Journal of Advanced Nursing, May 4(3), 263-285.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/254572

Brown A. (2017) Breastfeeding as a public health responsibility: a review of the evidence. *Journal of Human Nutrition and Dietetics*.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jhn.12496

Brown, C. R. L., Dodds, L., Legge, A., Bryanton, J., and Semenic, S. (2014). Factors influencing the reasons why mothers stop breastfeeding. *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, May/June 2014, e179-e185.
https://doi.org/10.17269/cjph.105.4244

Burgio, M.A., Lagana, A.S., Sicilia, A., Prosperi Porta, Porpora, M.G., Ban Frangez, H.,Di Venti, G., & Triolo, O. (2016). Breastfeeding Education: Where Are We Going?A Systematic Review Article. *Iranian Journal of Public Health*, 45(8).

Carolina Global Breastfeeding Institute: Empower Training for Breastfeeding (2017)

https://sph.unc.edu/cgbi/empower/

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2016a). Breastfeeding.

http://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2017a). Breastfeeding report card.

https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/pdf/2016breastfeedingreportcard.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2015a). Changes in maternity care improve breastfeeding outcomes.

https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/pdf/mpinc/states/2015/southcarolina-2015-

mpinc-report.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2016b). Healthy People 2020 objectives for the nation. <u>http://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/policy/hp2020.htm</u>

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2016c). Infant mortality rates.

https://www.cdc.gov/reproductivehealth/maternalinfanthealth/infantmortality.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2017b). National Immunization Survey

2016-2017. https://www.cdc.gov/breastfeeding/data/reportcard.htm

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2014). National vital statistics reports. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr63/nvsr63 05.pdf

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2017c). Trends in infant mortality rates in the United States: 2005-2014. NCHS Data Brief, No. 279, March 2017. <u>https://d.docs.live.net/4df2b89b3af67346/Documents/EBP%20project/PanekL%2</u> 0120721%20Final%20Capstone.docx

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2015b). Vital signs: Improvement in maternity care policies and practices that support breastfeeding – United States 2007–2013. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 64(39), 1112-1117. <u>https://d.docs.live.net/4df2b89b3af67346/Documents/EBP%20project/PanekL%2</u> 0120721%20Final%20Capstone.docx
- CDC's Healthy Communities Program (n.d.). Building Our Understanding: Key Concepts of Evaluation. What is it, and how do you do it? <u>https://www.cdc.gov/nccdphp/dch/programs/healthycommunitiesprogram/tools/p</u> <u>df/eval_planning.pdf.</u>
- First Latch (2017). Training for the Baby-Friendly Hospital Initiative. http://www.firstlatch.net/ b
- Folker-Maglaya, C., Pylman, M. E., Couch, K. A., Spatz, D. L. and Marzalik, P. R. (2018). Implementing a Breastfeeding Toolkit for Nursing Education. *The*

Journal of Perinatal & Neonatal Nursing, 32(2), 153–163. https://doi: 10.1097/JPN.00000000000330.

- Guala, A., Boscardini, L., Visentin, R., Angelloti, P., Grugni, L., Barbaglia, M., Chapin,
 E., Castelli, E., and Finale, E. (2017). Skin to skin contact in Cesarean birth and
 duration of breastfeeding: A Cohort Study. *The Scientific World Journal*,
 20171940756. https://doi: 10.1155/2017/1940756.
- Gurka, K. K., Hornsby, P. P., Drake, E., Mulvihill, E. M., Kinsey, E. N., Yitayew, M. S.,
 Lauer, C., Corriveau, S., Coleman, V., Gulati, G., and Kellams, A. L. (2014).
 Exploring intended infant feeding decisions among low-income women. *Breastfeeding Medicine* 9(8). https://doi:10.1089/bfm.2014.0013.
- Healthy People (2017a). Healthy People 2020: Maternal, infant, and child health. https://health.gov/healthypeople/objectives-and-data/browseobjectives/infants/increase-proportion-infants-who-are-breastfed-exclusivelythrough-age-6-months-mich-15/data.
- Healthy People (2017b). State-level data: Infants breastfed exclusively through six months. www.healthypeople.gov.
- Jeffery, A.D, Longo, M.A., and Nienaber, A. (2015). Staff educator's guide to professional development: Assessing and enhancing nursing competency. Indianapolis: IN. Sigma Theta Tau International.
- Joint Commission (2018). New perinatal care performance measure. https://www.jointcommission.org.

- Kirkpatrick, J. and Kirkpatrick, W. (2019). An Introduction to the New World Kirkpatrick Model. <u>https://www.cpedv.org/sites/main/files/file-</u> <u>attachments/introduction_to_the_kirkpatrick_new_world_model_-</u> <u>eval_002.pdf#:~:text=The%20New%20World%20Kirkpatrick%20Model%20add</u> <u>s%20required%20drivers,systems%20and%20recognition%20for%20a%20job%2</u> 0well%20done.
- Lau, Y., Htun Tha, P., Su Tin Ho-Lim, S., Wong, L. Y., Im Lem, P., Nurfarah, B. Z., M.
 C., and Shorey, S. (2017). An analysis of the effects of intrapartum factors, neonatal characteristics, and skin-to-skin contact on early breastfeeding initiation. *Maternal & Child Nutrition*, 14(1).

http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/mcn.12492/full.

Lee, Y., Lin, H., Tseng, H., Tsai, Y., and Lee-Hsieh, J. (2017). Using training needs assessment to develop a nurse preceptor-centered training program. *The Journal* of Continuing Education in Nursing, 48(5), 220-229.

http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3928/00220124-20170418-07

McFadden A, Gavine A, Renfrew MJ, Wade A, Buchanan P, Taylor JL, Veitch E, Rennie AM, Crowther SA, Neiman S, MacGillivray S (2017). Support for healthy breastfeeding mothers with healthy term babies. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2017, Issue 2. Art. No.: CD001141. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001141.pub5.

- Perez-Escamilla, R., Martinez, J. L., and Segura-Perez, S. (2016). Impact of the Baby Friendly Hospital Initiative on breastfeeding and child health outcomes: A systematic review. *Maternal and Child Nutrition*, 12(3), 402-417. Doi: 10.1111/mcn.12294.
- Piro, S.S. and Ahmed, H.M. (2020). Impacts of antenatal nursing interventions on mothers' breastfeeding self-efficacy: an experimental study. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12884-019-2701-0
- Radzyminski, S. and Callistor, L. C. (2015). Health professionals' attitudes and beliefs about breastfeeding. *The Journal of Perinatal Education*. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4744341/
- Registered Nurses Association of Ontario (2003). Breastfeeding best practice guidelines for nurses. www.mao.ca/sites/mao-

ca/files/breastfeeding_best_practice_guidelines_for_nurses_o.pdf.

- United States Breastfeeding Committee (2013). Implementing The Joint Commission Perinatal Care core measure on exclusive breast milk feeding. 2nd rev ed. Washington, DC.
- United States Department of Health and Human Services (2011). Call to Action to Support Breastfeeding. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK52682/</u>
- U.S. Census Bureau (n.d.). Quick facts: South Carolina. http://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/PST045215/45.

Victora, C. G., Bahl, R., Barros, J. D., Franca, G. V. A., Horton, S., Krasevec, J., Murch,
S. Senkar, M. J., Walker, N., & Rollins, N. C. (2016). *Breastfeeding in the 21st century: Epidemiology, mechanisms, and lifelong effect*. The Lance (387), No. 10017, 475-490.

Walden University (2017). DNP manual.

World Health Organization (2016). Infant and young child feeding. http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs342/en/.

Yee Fun Chow, Kamal, R. M., Sharma, S., Hua Nong Ting, & Joginder Singh, S.K.D. (2018). Development of a Computer-Assisted Learning Courseware for Anatomy and Physiology of Swallowing. *Malaysian Journal of Health Sciences/Journal Sains Kesihatan Malaysia 16(1)*. 169-179. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org. 2018-1601-21.

Yilmaz, E., Ocal, F. D., Yimlaz, Z. V., Ceyhan, M., Kara, O. F., and Kucukozhan, T. (2017). Early initiation of exclusive breastfeeding: Factors influencing the attitudes of mothers who gave birth in a Baby Friendly Hospital. *Turkish Journal* of Obstetrics and Gynecology. Mar 2017, 14(1), 1-9.

Appendix A: Baby Friendly Survey

1. List four benefits of breastfeeding for mothers and/or babies.
1
2
3
4
2. True or False - it is important for all pregnant women to receive information about the benefits of breastfeeding and make a
fully informed choice.
3. True or False - it is important that all pregnant women receive education about how to manage breastfeeding to prepare
them for breastfeeding.
4. Why is skin-to-skin important? Can choose more than one answer.
Gegulates temperature of mother and/or infant
Facilitates initiation of breastfeeding
Has positive impact on mother-infant bonding
Calms mother and/or baby
Regulates heartbeat and/or breathing
Regulates infant blood glucose levels, reducing risk for hypoglycemia
□ Other evidence-based reason:
Follow we with this provide
Follow up with this duestion:
5. When should skin-to-skin be initiated after vaginal delivery? And, after cesarean delivery? <u>Can choose more than one</u>
answer.
Immediately (within 5 minutes) after vaginal birth unless there are medical problems
As soon as the mother is responsive and alert following a cesarean birth unless there are medical problems
Has positive impact on mother-infant bonding
To prepare them for breastfeeding
Follow up with this question:
6. How long should skin-to-skin last in the immediate postpartum period? Can choose more than one answer.
□ As long as the mother wishes
\Box At least until completion of the first breastfeeding, and at least one hour for a baby who is fed formula
7. Why is correct positioning and attachment important for breastfeeding? Can choose more than one answer.
Supports efficient milk transfer
Supports sufficient milk supply
Reduces risk of nipple soreness
8. Why is it recommended that all breastfeeding mothers are taught to express their milk by hand? Can choose more than one
answer.
Li Help baby to attach
□ Relieve engorgement
Treat a blocked duct
□ More effective method of expressing colostrum
□ May be more effective than pumping
Other evidence-based reason:

9. Why is it important that mothers with babies in the NICU be advised to express their milk as soon as possible after delivery?
Can choose more than one answer.
Provide colostrum for the baby
Stimulate milk supply
Treat a blocked duct
Relieve engorgement
Follow up with this question:
How often should mothers with babies in the NICU be advised to express their milk? Fill in blank.
At least times in 24 hours
10. What is the importance of avoiding supplementation of breastfed babies with formula when not clinically indicated? Can
choose more than one answer.
Decreased breastfeeding leads to reduced milk supply
☐ Mother loses confidence in breastfeeding
Allergic sensitization of baby
Other evidence-based reason:
11. Why is rooming-in important for breastfeeding? Can choose more than one answer.
Mother learns feeding cues
Mother learns how to handle and comfort her baby
Supports feeding on demand
Baby learns to recognize his or her mother
Other evidence-based reason:
12. Why is cue-based feeding important for successful breastfeeding? <u>Can choose more than one answer.</u>
Supports appropriate milk supply
Reduces risk of engorgement
Helps the baby feel satisfied
Other evidence-based reason:
13. Why should artificial nipples and pacifiers be avoided during the establishment of breastfeeding? <u>Can choose more than</u>
one answer.
May make it more difficult for baby to attach to the breast
Interferes with cue-based feeding, leading to decreased milk supply
Supports appropriate milk supply
Reduces risk of engorgement
14. Do you teach mothers how to position and attach their babies for breastfeeding?
15. Do you teach mothers how to hand express breast milk?
16. True or False. Listed is the correct way to teach a mother to hand express. <u>Can choose more than one answer.</u>
1. Stimulate the breast with massage and nipple stimulation.
*Gently grasp the breast with the thumb and foretinger at the approximate location of where the baby's lips would be
located for a correct latch and press the breast back toward the chest wall.
*Use the ferefinger and thumb to get the compress toward the ningle in a steady routh without sliding the fingers
along the skin
3 Milk may take a few minutes to flow
5. White they take a few minutes to now.
4. Rotate fingers around the breast to express all guadrants of both breasts.
17. Please describe what important information mothers who are feeding formula need to know in order to safely prepare
formula and feed their babies.
\Box Safe storage
□ Safe handling
□ Appropriate reconstitution
Appropriate hygiene
□ Accuracy of measurement of ingredients
□ Cleaning of utensils and equipment
Appropriate feeding methods

Appendix B: Baby Friendly Skills Fair Questionnaire

Baby Friendly Skills Fair

	I received infor	rmation today that will	help me in my job		
-	Completely Disagree	Disagree	Net frai	Agree	Compl /
2	The informatio	n I received will change	e the way I practice		
	Completely Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Comp /
:	The skills fair v	vas fun and informative	e		
-	Completely Disagree	Disagree	N ec trai	Agree	Comp
	I feel this skills	s fair was worth the tim	e and effort to complete		
*	Completely Disagree	Disagroe	Neutral	Agree	Comp
2	l have the know	wledge and tools neces	sary to help my patients be	e successful with breas	stfeeding
-	Completely Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Comp
: \$7	I feel confident	t discussing safe feedir	ng and sleeping practices w	rith my patients.	
	Completely Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Comp
\$	The scheduled	time for the skills fair	was appropriate for the inf	formation provided.	
-	Completely Disagree	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Comp
: ☆	l understand th	ne documentation requ	irements for Baby Friendly	<i>.</i>	
	Completely	Disagree	Neutral	Agree	Comp